IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. SC03-532 L.T. No. 2D02-2430

CEDRIC T. GREEN,

Respondent.

_____/

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS Chief - Assistant Attorney General Chief of Criminal Law, Tampa Florida Bar No. 0238538

KATHERINE V. BLANCO Senior Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No: 0327832 Concourse Center 4 3507 Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

CERTIFIED CONFLICT and NOTICE OF RELATED CASES

This Court has postponed its decision on jurisdiction in this case. (See, Order dated June 5, 2003).

In <u>Taylor v. State</u>, 818 So. 2d 544 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002), the Second District Court held that Chapter 99-188 violated the single subject rule.¹ In response to <u>Taylor</u>, the Florida legislature enacted Chapters 02-208, 02-209, 02-210, 02-211, and 02-212, Laws of Florida, which reenacted the provisions of chapter 99-188. The 2002 chapter laws provided that they are to be applied retroactively.

In the instant case, <u>Green v. State</u>, 839 So. 2d 748 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003), the Second District Court held that Chapter 02-212, Laws of Florida, could not be applied retroactively under the Ex Post Facto Clauses of the United States and the Florida Constitutions. The Second District certified that its decision conflicts with <u>Carlson v. State</u>, 27 Fla. L. Weekly D2162 (Fla. 5th DCA Oct.4, 2002) and <u>Hersey v. State</u>,² 831 So. 2d 679 (Fla.

¹The Third District Court has certified conflict with <u>Taylor</u> in several pending cases. See e.g., <u>Franklin v. State</u>, SC03-413; <u>State</u> <u>v. Watkiss</u>, SC03-795; <u>Moore v. State</u>, 2003 WL 1824435 (Fla. 3d DCA, Apr 09, 2003); <u>Washington v. State</u>, 2003 WL 1722926 (Fla. 3d DCA, Apr 02, 2003).

²<u>Hersey</u> [certified question], currently is before this court in <u>Hersey v. State</u>, SC02-2630, pending the disposition of <u>Lewis v. State</u>, SC03-401, and <u>Franklin v. State</u>, SC03-413.

5th DCA 2002). <u>Green</u>, 839 So. 2d at 755, citing also, <u>Lecorn v.</u> <u>State</u>, 832 So. 2d 818, 819 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002); <u>Jones v. State</u>, 27 Fla. L. Weekly D2377 (Fla. 5th DCA, Nov.1, 2002). In addition, the Second District noted that its decision "may also be in conflict with the Fourth District's decisions in <u>Nieves v.</u> <u>State</u>, 833 So. 2d 190 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002), and <u>Green v. State</u>, 832 So. 2d 199 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002)." <u>Id</u>. at n. 8.

Both <u>Lewis v. State</u>, SC03-401, and <u>Franklin v. State</u>, SC03-413, are currently pending before this Court on the merits of the Chapter 99-188 single subject challenge as well as the Chapter 02-208 - 02-212 retroactivity issue. Consequently, the instant brief reiterates the State's arguments previously presented in both <u>Lewis</u> and <u>Franklin</u>.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In <u>Green v. State</u>, 839 So. 2d 748 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003), the Second District Court set forth the following summary of facts and procedural background:

Cedric Green was adjudicated guilty of violating section 893.135(1)(b)(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1999), by trafficking in more than 28 but less than 200 grams of cocaine. He committed this crime in April 2000. In September 2000, the circuit court sentenced him to 42.9 months' imprisonment, including the three-year minimum mandatory term required under the statute. After Green was sentenced, this court issued Taylor v. State, 818 So. 2d 544 (Fla. 2d DCA), review dismissed, 821 So. 2d 302 (Fla. 2002), declaring chapter 99-188 unconstitutional because it violated the single subject requirement. Section 9 of that chapter had amended section 893.135 to add the minimum mandatory prison term imposed on Green.

*

*

. . . on May 1, 2002, Green filed a motion pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850, asserting that because Taylor had stricken the law that mandated a minimum sentence for his crime, and because he committed the crime during the window period for challenges on that basis, he should be resentenced under the 1997 statutes . . . Traditionally, when a defendant has been sentenced under a statute that is declared unconstitutional on single subject grounds, he is entitled to be resentenced under the valid law in effect on the date of his offense. See Heggs v. State, 759 So. 2d 620, 630-31 (Fla. 2000). In Green's case, however, the circuit court noted that the legislature had cured the single subject rule violation by reenacting the various provisions of chapter 99-188 retroactively to July 1, 1999. Accordingly, the circuit court held that Green was not entitled to relief.

<u>Green</u>, 839 So. 2d 748-749.

On review of Green's summary post-conviction appeal, the Second District held that the Ex Post Facto Clauses of the Florida and the United States Constitutions prohibit the retroactive application of chapter 02-212, Laws of Florida. The Second District Court concluded that Chapter 02-212 may be applied no earlier than its April 29, 2002 effective date, and remanded with directions to resentence Green pursuant to §893.135(1)(b)(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1997).

In response to the Second District Court's summary postconviction opinion, the State filed a motion for rehearing³ asserting, *inter alia*, that a majority of the Third District Court, sitting *en banc* in <u>State v. Franklin</u>, 836 So. 2d 1112 (Fla. 3d DCA 2003) held that Chapter 99-188 did not violate the single subject rule. Thus, if Chapter 99-188 does not violate the single subject rule, as the Third District Court in <u>Franklin</u> determined, the defendant, Cedric Green, cannot prevail on any "ex post facto" challenge to the 2002 reenactment legislation. Alternatively, any alleged constitutional defect in chapter 99-188 was cured by its legislative reenactment into multiple

³This was a summary post-conviction proceeding in the trial court and on appeal, and a response was never requested by the Court. See, Rule 9.141(c), Fla. R. App. P. Thus, this was the State's first opportunity to address the post-<u>Taylor</u> conflict and the legislative reenactments/retroactivity issue in this case.

separate acts in 2002, and those reenactments can be retroactively applied without violating the ex post facto clause. On March 7, 2003, the Second District Court denied the State's motion for rehearing. On April 25, 2003, this Court granted the State's motion to stay proceedings.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

<u>Chapter 99-188</u>

Chapter 99-188 of the Laws of Florida does not violate the single subject requirement of the Florida Constitution. The two sections of this Act which the Second District Court in <u>Taylor</u> found violated the single subject rule have a reasonable and logical connection to the overall stated purpose of this act, which is "incapacitating the reoffender" and "accelerating the decline in crimes rates." Because there is no single subject violation, this Court should quash the decision of <u>Taylor v.</u> <u>State</u>, 818 So. 2d 544 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002) and adopt the decision of <u>State v. Franklin</u>, 836 So. 2d 1112 (Fla. 3d DCA 2003). Furthermore, even if this Court were to find the Act unconstitutional, the sections at issue can be severed from the act, leaving the remaining sections intact.

2002 Legislative Reenactments

Any alleged constitutional defect in Chapter 99-188 was cured by its legislative reenactment into multiple separate acts in 2002. Those reenactments can be retroactively applied without violating the ex post facto clause of the Florida Constitution.

ARGUMENT

CHAPTER 99-188 DOES NOT VIOLATE THE SINGLE SUBJECT REQUIREMENT OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION, AND EVEN IF THERE WERE A CONSTITUTIONAL VIOLATION, THE VIOLATION IS CURED BY THE 2002 REENACTMENTS OF THE ACT WHICH CAN BE APPLIED RETROACTIVELY.

An essential preliminary issue before this Court is whether chapter 99-188 of the Laws of Florida violates the single subject provision of the Florida Constitution. In Taylor v. State, 818 So. 2d 544 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002), the Second District Court held that Chapter 99-188 violated the single subject rule. However, both the First and Third Districts found that there is no single subject violation. See, Watson v. State, 842 So. 2d 274 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003) and <u>State v. Franklin</u>, 836 So. 2d 1112 (Fla. 3d DCA 2003). In immediate response to <u>Taylor</u>, the legislature enacted Chapters 02-208, 02-209, 02-210, 02-211, and 02-212, Laws of Florida, which reenacted the provisions of chapter 99-188. The 2002 chapter laws provide that they are to be applied retroactively to the extent the federal and state constitutions permit. The Fourth and Fifth Districts found that any single subject violation in chapter 99-188 is cured by the enactment of chapters 02-208, 02-209, 02-210 and 02-211, and can be retroactively applied. See, Lewis v. State, 836 So.2d 1095 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003); <u>Hersey v. State</u>, 831 So.2d 679 (Fla. 5th

DCA 2002) and Nieves v. State, 833 So.2d 190 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002). However, in the instant case, Green v. State, 839 So. 2d 748 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003), the Second District Court held that retroactive application of chapter 02-212 would violate the ex post facto clauses of the United States and Florida constitutions. For the following reasons, the State respectfully submits that Chapter 99-188 does not violate the single subject rule; and, even if there were a single subject violation, any violation is cured by the 2002 reenactments of the act which can be applied retroactively.

Governing Legal Principles

The State contends that chapter 99-188 is constitutional and does not violate the single subject rule of article III, section 6 of the Florida Constitution which provides that every law "shall embrace but one subject and matter properly connected therewith." In assessing a statute's constitutionality, this Court is bound "to resolve all doubts as to the validity of [the] statute in favor of its constitutionality, provided the statute may be given a fair construction that is consistent with the federal and state constitutions as well as with the legislative intent." <u>State v. Stalder</u>, 630 So. 2d 1072, 1076 (Fla. 1994)(quoting <u>State v. Elder</u>, 382 So. 2d 687, 690 (Fla. 1980)).

Legislative enactments are presumptively valid. <u>State v.</u> <u>McDonald</u>, 357 So. 2d 405, 407 (Fla. 1978). Every doubt about a provision should be resolved in favor of the validity of the provision, since it must be presumed that the legislature intended to enact a valid law. <u>Id.</u> This Court has consistently held that wide latitude must be accorded the legislature in the enactment of laws. <u>Burch v. State</u>, 558 So. 2d 1, 2 (Fla. 1990)(quoting <u>State v. Lee</u>, 356 So.2d 276, 282 (Fla. 1978)). This Court shall strike down a statute only when there is a plain violation of the constitutional requirement that each enactment be limited to a single subject that is briefly expressed in the title. <u>Lee</u>, 356 So.2d at 282.

The single subject provision requires that there must be "a logical or natural connection" between the various portions of a legislative enactment. <u>Grant v. State</u>, 770 So. 2d 655, 657 (Fla. 2000)(quoting <u>State v. Johnson</u>, 616 So. 2d 1, 4 (Fla. 1993)). The single subject requirement is satisfied if a "reasonable explanation exists as to why the legislature chose to join the two subjects within the same legislative act." <u>Id.</u> Thus, the subject of any act may be as broad as the legislature chooses as long as the matters included in the act have a natural or logical connection. <u>Chenoweth v. Kemp</u>, 396 So. 2d 1122, 1124 (Fla. 1981).

The purpose of this constitutional prohibition against a plurality of subjects in a single legislative act is to prevent a single enactment from becoming a "cloak" for dissimilar legislation having no necessary or appropriate connection with the subject matter. State v. Lee, 356 So. 2d 276, 282 (Fla. 1978). This constitutional provision is not designed to deter or impede legislation by requiring laws to be unnecessarily restrictive in their scope and operation. <u>Id.</u> The primary purpose of the single subject rule is to prevent hodge-podge or logrolling legislation, i.e., putting two unrelated matters in one act; to prevent surprise or fraud by means of provisions in bills of which the titles gave no intimation, and which might therefore be overlooked and carelessly and unintentionally adopted; and to fairly apprise the people of the subjects of legislation that are being considered, in order that they may have opportunity of being heard thereon. State v. Thompson, 750 So. 2d 643, 646 (Fla. 1999)(citation omitted).

Ultimately, whether a legislative enactment meets the single subject rule requirement rests on common sense. It is enough if the questioned provision tends to make effective or promote the objects and purposes of legislation included in the subject. <u>Smith v. Dep't of Insurance</u>, 507 So. 2d 1080, 1087 (quotations omitted). Even where there are disparate subjects contained

within a comprehensive act, the act will not violate the single subject rule if the subjects reasonably relate to the crisis the legislature intended to address. <u>Burch</u>, 558 So.2d at 2-3.

<u>Chapter 99-188</u>

Chapter 99-188 of the Laws of Florida begins with "An act relating to sentencing" and is comprised of fourteen sections. The legislative enactment contains a detailed preamble evincing its intent by its reference to Florida's high rate of violent crime and the need to impose longer periods of incarceration for repeat and violent offenders. In creating chapter 99-188, the Legislature noted that Florida ranks as one of the most violent in the nation and that substantial states °а and disproportionate number of serious crimes are committed in this state by a relatively small number of repeat and violent felony offenders." The Legislature added that since 1995, it had enacted stronger criminal punishment laws and that the intent of enacting chapter 99-188 was to "improve public safety by incapacitating repeat offenders" and to "accelerate recent declines in the violent crime rate." Id.

Chapter 99-188 contains the following fourteen provisions, distinguished as follows:

Sec. 1 Provides a name for citing the Act

- Sec. 2 Redefines portions of the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act
- Sec. 3 Creates the "Three Strikes" law and redefines certain aspects of the Habitual Felony Offender Act
- Sec. 4 Creates a mandatory minimum sentence for the crime of assault and battery of a law enforcement officer
- Sec. 5 Creates a mandatory minimum sentence for the crime of assault and battery of a person 65 years of age or older
- Sec. 6 Modifies the subsection lettering in section 790.235 to accommodate or correspond to the changes in adopting the "Three-Strikes" law
- Sec. 7 Creates the category of a "Repeat Sexual Batterer" under section 794.0115 and imposes a corresponding mandatory minimum sentence
- Sec. 8 Modifies section 794.011 to accommodate the new "Repeat Sexual Batterer" category
- Sec. 9 Amends section 893.135 to redefine certain drug offenses to provide for harsher penalties including mandatory minimum sentences
- Sec. 10 Reenacts certain other statutes from the 1998 Supplement, for purposes of incorporating the amendments to section 893.135 accomplished in section nine of the Act
- Sec. 11 Amends section 943.0535 to requires the clerk of the criminal court to communicate

the judgement and sentence of any alien to federal immigration authorities

- Sec. 12 Requires the Governor to advise the public of the penalties set out in the Act
- Sec. 13 Redefines "conveyance" for the purposes of defining the crimes of burglary and trespass
- Sec. 14 Provides an effective date for the Act Chapter 99-188, Laws of Fla.

In sum, section 2 expands the definition of prison releasee reoffender to include one who commits an enumerated offense while in prison or escape status. Sections 3 and 6 deal with the "Three Strikes" law. Section 3 creates the "three-time violent felony offender" law and accompanying mandatory minimum Section 6 modifies the subsection lettering in sentences. 790.235, Fla. Stat. (Possession of a Firearm by a violent career criminal). The modification simply changes the reference of 775.084(1)(c) and replaces it with 775.084(1)(d) to correspond to the lettering in the three-strikes law created in Section 3. Sections 4 and 5 create mandatory minimums for Assault and Battery on Law Enforcement and the Elderly, respectively. Section 7 creates the new offense of "repeat sexual batterer" and accompanying mandatory minimum sentence. Section 8 modifies 794.011 (which defines Sexual Battery) to include this new category of repeat sexual batterer. Sections 9 and 10 deal with

punishment for drug offenses. Section 9 amends 893.135(trafficking statute) as it toughens the threshold quantities for trafficking in cannabis by reducing the quantity from 50 to 20 pounds and adding cannabis plants, and providing for accompanying mandatory minimum sentences. The section also deals with "trafficking in cocaine" and "trafficking in illegal drugs" by amending quantity provisions and providing for minimum mandatory sentences. For purposes of incorporating the amendments to 893.135, Section 10 reenacts related statutes from the 1998 Supplement in order to conform to the amendments made in section 9. The state stresses that these are not amendments, but simply verbatim "reenactments" of previously existing statutes. These statutes include 397.451 (disqualification from receiving state funds, relating to service providers previously convicted in trafficking); 893.1351 (leasing for purposes of trafficking); 907.041(pretrial detention); 921.0022 (Criminal Punishment Code Offense Chart); 921.142 (separate penalty proceedings for capital drug offenses); 943.0585 (expunction of criminal records). Among other factors, creating a "threestrikes" enhanced sentencing law, creating a "repeat sexual batterer" offense, creating mandatory minimums (with special attention to cases where the victims are law enforcement and the elderly), toughening the criteria for drug offenses and the

accompanying penalties - all are reasonably related to the crisis the Legislature intended to address, as the <u>Taylor</u> court recognized.

However, in <u>Taylor</u>, the Second District found that the single subject rule was violated by the inclusion of two allegedly "unrelated" sections, 11 and 13, in Chapter 99-188. See, <u>Taylor</u>, 818 So. 2d at 549-551. Thus, this Court initially must determine whether sections 11 and 13 are reasonably related to the purpose of providing harsher penalties and protecting the public from the class of felons identified in the Act or, in other words, whether these sections "relate to sentencing." Contrary to the Second District's conclusion in <u>Taylor</u> and following the Third District's conclusion in <u>Franklin</u>, the State contends that each of the sections in Chapter 99-188 relate to that overall goal and that each section of the Act is naturally and logically connected.

First, the Second District erred in concluding that section eleven addresses "a purely administrative subject that is far afield from the act's other provisions." <u>Id.</u> at 549. Instead, section 11 imposes a duty to transmit the judgments and sentences of convicted aliens to federal authorities for purposes of removing them from the State. Section 11 deals with a previously existing statute, § 943.0535, which directs the

clerk of court to furnish the INS with judgments and sentences (felony and misdemeanor) of any aliens. The former statute required such transmittal only upon request of the INS. Section 11 removes the "upon official request" provision - requiring for transmittal in every case.

This provision is reasonably related to the Legislature's purpose of protecting the public from the class of criminals identified in the Act. Transmittal of convictions facilitates removal of convicted aliens from the State. The fact that this provision is not limited to convicted aliens who are repeat offenders is of no consequence; if the provision serves the purposes of the legislation it is constitutionally authorized. Grant, at 657; Smith at 1087. Indeed, removal of first time felons will prevent repeat offending. Thus, contrary to Taylor, this is not a "noncriminal ... purely administration subject that is far afield" from the Legislature's goal." Moreover, as the Third District observed in <u>Franklin</u>, this provision clearly is reasonably related to the purpose of providing harsher penalties and protecting the public from the class of felons identified in the Act since it insures their removal from this country after they have served their state sentences. Franklin, 836 So. 2d at The fact that this provision is not limited to the 1114. transmission of judgments involving repeat offenders, violent

felons, or drug traffickers is of no consequence; if the provision serves the purposes of the legislation it is constitutionally authorized. <u>Grant</u>, 770 So. 2d at 657; <u>Smith</u>, 507 So. 2d at 1087. Instead, the removal of these convicted aliens will prevent repeat offending.

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