IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,					
Petitioner, vs.	Case No.: SC03-532				
CEDRIC T. GREEN,	L.T. Case No.: 2D02-2430				
Respondent.					
ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT CEDRIC T. GREEN					

SYLVIA H. WALBOLT Florida Bar No. 33604 MATTHEW J. CONIGLIARO Florida Bar No. 65325 HUNTER W. CARROLL Florida Bar No. 297630 CARLTON FIELDS, P.A. Post Office Box 2861 St. Petersburg, FL 33731-2861 Telephone: (727) 821-7000 Facsimile: (727) 822-3768

Attorneys for Respondent, Cedric T. Green

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In <u>Taylor v. State</u>, 818 So. 2d 544 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002), the Second District correctly concluded that chapter 99-188, Laws of Florida, violates the Florida Constitution's single subject requirement. Twelve of the law's fourteen sections have a natural and logical connection to the subject of criminal sentencing. Consistent with this connection, the law's preamble discussed criminal sentencing in the context of violent and repeat offenders and the need to enhance the sentences for such persons. Likewise, when the 2002 Legislature responded to the decision in <u>Taylor</u> by enacting the provisions of chapter 99-188 as five separate bills, the Legislature itself asserted the subject of chapter 99-188 to be criminal sentencing.

Two of chapter 99-188's sections, however, have no natural or logical connection to criminal sentencing. Section 13 of chapter 99-188 expands the definition of "conveyance" in the burglary statute to include not only railroad cars but railroad vehicles or cars. This substantive expansion of a single, nonviolent criminal offense has nothing to do with sentencing, violent felonies, or repeat offenders. Also, the legislative history shows that the language found in section 13 was added to the bill in the last few days of the 1999 session, long after the law's other provisions were in place.

Section 11 also bears no natural or logical connection to criminal sentencing. That provision requires all court clerks to notify federal immigration authorities whenever an alien is found guilty or pleads nolo contendre to any offense. On its face, this administrative provision has no connection to criminal sentencing, or to violent or repeat offenders. Also, the law's legislative history confirms that this

provision was targeted, not at violent and repeat offenders (who under the law are more likely to serve longer prison sentences), but at a completely different class of persons: those under state supervision who are released from prison before federal authorities identify them as aliens or who never receive any prison sentence.

Contrary to the State's arguments, these disparate subjects may not be united by labeling chapter 99-188 a comprehensive crime bill. The law was plainly not a comprehensive bill; the Legislature itself identified the subject as criminal sentencing. In addition, the supposed connections between these sections offered by the State and accepted by the Third District in State v. Franklin, 836 So. 2d 1112 (Fla. 3d DCA 2003), are too attenuated to be natural or logical. They rely exclusively on the potential happenstance of events, not unity of a single subject.

Finally, the State's argument that sections 13 and 11 should be severed from the law is contrary to this Court's decision in Heggs v. State, 759 So. 2d 620 (Fla. 2000), which soundly rejected the notion that multi-subject laws in which all subjects are properly noticed in the title can be severed. The State offers no basis to overrule Heggs, which remains the law of Florida, and none exists.

The Second District in the decision under review, <u>Green v. State</u>, 839 So. 2d 748 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003), also correctly determined that the federal and state prohibitions on ex post facto laws prohibit chapter 2002-212 from being applied retroactively to impose a minimum mandatory sentence on Mr. Green for his April 2000 conduct. The sole authority relied upon to support retroactivity, <u>Dobbert v. Florida</u>, 432 U.S. 282 (1977), is inapposite here for three reasons.

First, <u>Dobbert</u> permitted retroactive application of a capital sentencing law in part because, through the "operative fact" of a prior law in effect at the time he committed his offense, the defendant in that case had "fair warning" of the punishment the Legislature intended to seek for his crime. No such "fair warning" exists here, as this Court's case law makes plain that a law in contravention of the single subject requirement cannot be said to the product of the necessary majority of legislators. Thus, chapter 99-188 was never "operative," and it provided neither Mr. Green nor anyone else "fair warning" of the Legislature's will.

Second, <u>Dobbert</u> concerned a series of procedural changes in how the death penalty was assessed in Florida. The Supreme Court in that case emphasized that the Legislature made no change to the elements of the crime at issue (first degree murder) or the punishment for that crime. That is not the case here.

Finally, <u>Dobbert</u> is inapplicable here because it need not control this Court's interpretation of Florida's constitutional prohibition on ex post facto laws. In the case of a single subject violation -- a violation that has no federal counterpart -- this Court should read article I, section 10, of the Florida Constitution to prohibit the Legislature from "reenacting" a prior penal law, invalid under the single subject requirement, and making the new, substantive penal enactment retroactive to the effective date of the defective law. The Legislature should not find itself in a better position for having enacted a prior law in violation of the single subject

rule than had the Legislature enacted no such prior law at all, especially in the case of criminal laws.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The matters addressed in this review are solely issues of law. Accordingly, the Court reviews these issues de novo. <u>Armstrong v. Harris</u>, 773 So. 2d 7, 11 (Fla. 2000).

ARGUMENT

I. CHAPTER 99-188, LAWS OF FLORIDA, VIOLATES THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION'S SINGLE SUBJECT REQUIREMENT.

The Second District's decision in this matter concerned only the constitutionality of retroactively applying chapter 2002-212, Laws of Florida. Nonetheless, the State begins its argument in its Initial Brief by challenging the decision that prompted the Legislature's retroactive enactments, Taylor v. State, 818 So. 2d 544 (Fla. 2d DCA), rev. dismissed, 821 So. 2d 305 (Fla. 2002). Citing the Third District's subsequent decision in State v. Franklin, 836 So. 2d 1112 (Fla. 3d DCA 2003), the State contends that Taylor erred in holding that chapter 99-188 violates the Florida Constitution's single subject requirement. The State further contends that Mr. Green lacks standing to assert the law's unconstitutionality. Finally, the State contends that the law's sections reflecting alternative subjects should be severed, leaving the section affecting Mr. Green intact.

The Court need address none of these points, because they were not passed upon by the Second District in its decision. E.g., Metropolitan Dade County v. Chase Fed. Hous. Corp., 737 So. 2d 494, 499 n.7 (Fla. 1999) (holding an issue not raised before the trial or district court not to be preserved). Further, the State voluntarily dismissed its appeal of the decision in <u>Taylor</u>, making reconsideration of

that decision especially inequitable, particularly in a subsequent case arising from the Second District, which has been applying <u>Taylor</u> since early 2002.

Nonetheless, because the single subject issues raised by the State are also the subject of other cases now pending in this Court, Mr. Green will address -- and dispose of -- the State's contentions on their merits.

A. CHAPTER 99-188 PERTAINS TO MORE THAN A SINGLE SUBJECT AND IS THUS UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

Article III, section 6, of the Florida Constitution provides that "[e]very law shall embrace but one subject and matter properly connected therewith, and the subject shall be briefly expressed in the title." This provision prohibits "a plurality of subjects in a single legislative act" E.g., State v. Johnson, 616 So. 2d 1, 4 (Fla. 1993); Martinez v. Martinez, 582 So. 2d 1167, 1172 (Fla. 1991). Chapter 99-188 contravenes this prohibition and is accordingly unconstitutional.

In addressing single subject challenges to enacted legislation, this Court has repeatedly held that an act may be as broad as the Legislature chooses, so long as the matters included in the act have a <u>natural</u> or <u>logical</u> connection. <u>Florida Dep't of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles v. Critchfield</u>, 842 So. 2d 782, 785 (Fla. 2003); <u>Johnson</u>, 616 So. 2d at 4; <u>Martinez</u>, 582 So. 2d at 1172. The primary purpose of the single subject requirement is to prevent "logrolling," where a single enactment cloaks dissimilar legislation having no necessary or appropriate connection. <u>Critchfield</u>, 842 So. 2d 782, 785 (Fla. 2003); <u>Johnson</u>, 616 So. 2d at 4; <u>Scanlan</u>, 582 So. 2d at 1172.

This Court has declared legislative acts in violation of the single subject rule

on numerous occasions. For instance, in <u>Johnson</u>, this Court held unconstitutional a law regarding habitual offenders and licensing private investigators because no natural or logical connection existed between the two subjects. In <u>State v.</u>

Thompson, 750 So. 2d 643 (Fla. 1999), the Court held unconstitutional a law that concerned the disparate and unconnected subjects of domestic violence and career criminals. Most recently, in <u>Critchfield</u>, the Court held unconstitutional a law concerning motor vehicle licenses and registrations that also included a section on private debt collections for worthless checks.

Chapter 99-188 shares the same defect as the laws found unconstitutional in these cases: no single subject unites all of the law's disparate provisions. Although some of the provisions are related, others have nothing to do with them. The law's provisions are as follows, with two sections that are dissimilar from the remainder in bold:

- Section 1: identifies the law as the "Three Strikes Violent Felony Offender Act"
- Section 2: expands the definition of "prison release reoffender" in section 775.082, a sentencing statute
- Section 3: amends section 775.084 to define a "three-time violent felony offender" and imposes a minimum mandatory sentence for such persons
- Section 4: amends section 784.07 to provide a three-year minimum mandatory sentence for aggravated battery of a law enforcement officer
- Section 5: amends section 784.08 to provide a three-year minimum mandatory sentence for aggravated assault on a person 65 years or older and for aggravated battery on a person 65 years or older
- Section 6: amends references to section 775.084 found in section 790.235,

in conformity with section 3

- Section 7: creates section 794.0115, which defines "repeat sexual batterer" and creates a mandatory minimum sentence for such persons
- Section 8: amends section 794.011, wherein the crime "sexual battery" is defined, to reference punishment for that offense in conformity with the new statute created by section 7
- Section 9: amends section 893.135, which criminalizes trafficking in certain drugs, to expand the definitions of certain trafficking offenses and provide a minimum mandatory sentence for certain trafficking offenses
- Section 10: amends various statutes to incorporate references to section 893.135, as amended by section 9
- Section 11: amends section 943.0535 to require clerks of court to transmit to the appropriate United States immigration officer records pertaining to aliens who are convicted or who enter a plea to any crime
- Section 12: requires the Governor to publicize the penalties contained in the
- Section 13: amends section 810.011 to expand the definition of "conveyance," as used to define burglary, to include a "railroad vehicle or car," the statute previously referencing a "railroad car"
- Section 14: provides an effective date for the act of July 1, 1999 See Ch. 99-188, Laws of Fla.

The preamble to chapter 99-188 contains a lengthy recitation regarding the Legislature's basis for enacting the law. <u>See id.</u> at 1038-40. The preamble declares that, in 1996, Florida had the highest violent crime rate of any state and that eleven other states had higher incarceration rates. <u>See id.</u> at 1038. The preamble further details the number of violent crimes since 1988, the increase in per capita violent crime over the preceding twenty-five years, and the number of violent felons during

1996-1997 who were not sentenced to the maximum authorized sentence. <u>See id.</u> at 1038-39. It states that in 1997 more violent felons were on probation or similar prison alternatives than were in prison, and that the general prison population had grown twice as fast as the violent offender prison population. <u>See id.</u> at 1039.

The preamble concludes by noting, among other things, that violent career criminals should be incarcerated for extended terms with substantial minimum terms, that persons who commit three violent felonies should receive mandatory maximum sentences, that the adoption of "three strikes" legislation in California has been followed by significant reductions in crime in that state, and that imposing mandatory prison terms on three-time violent offenders will improve public safety, prevent such persons from committing more crimes, and accelerate declines in the violent crime rate. See id. at 1039-40.

As the Second District observed in <u>Taylor</u>, the law's preamble focuses on the need for enhanced criminal sentencing, as does the name given the law in the first section. 818 So. 2d at 548-49. Further, and as the Second District there concluded, every section of the law is naturally and logically related to <u>criminal sentencing</u>, with two exceptions: section 11 and section 13. <u>Id.</u> Those sections bear no natural or logical connection to the remainder of the law. As a result, chapter 99-188 violates the single subject requirement of Article III, section 6.

Section 13 -- Expanding Conveyance to Include "Railroad Vehicles"

Section 13 expands the crime of burglary as it applies to railroad cars to include railroad vehicles. See Ch. 99-188, § 13, at 1081, Laws of Fla. This substantive expansion of a single, nonviolent criminal offense has no natural or logical relationship to criminal sentencing. Nor does this expansion have any such relationship to violent felonies or repeat offenders, the concerns discussed at length in the law's preamble and addressed by every section in the law other than sections 11 and 13.

Notably, the language found in section 13 was not added to the bill that became chapter 99-188 until late in the 1999 legislative session, long after the original bill had been proposed. The House had already passed a committee substitute bill to become the "Three Strikes Violent Felony Offender Act," which contained every provision now found in the law except section 13, see Fla. H.R. Jour. 1128-29 (Reg. Sess. 1999), when, with three days remaining in the 1999 session, the Senate added the railroad burglary section via a strike everything amendment. See Fla. S. Jour. 1276, 1290, 1292 (Reg. Sess. 1999). The House and Senate passed the bill, with the amended language, on the last day of the 1999 session. See Fla. S. Jour. 1964-65 (Reg. Sess. 1999); Fla. H.R. Jour. 1911-12 (Reg. Sess. 1999).

This procedural background confirms what the text of section 13 suggests: that expanding the definition of conveyance in the burglary statute to include "railroad vehicles" had no natural or logical connection to the law's other sections. The language was not included in any of the prior versions of the bill, which from

the start was aimed at violent felons and repeat offenders. Nor does section 13 offer any textual connection to violent felony or repeat offenders, or, more significantly to sentencing, which is the subject of the bill. Indeed, by all appearances, the <u>only</u> connection between section 13 and the remainder of the bill is that both deal with crime.

Crime, however, in the absence of reasonable indicators to suggest an omnibus effort to address that subject, is a constitutionally insufficient connection for these provisions. See, e.g., State v. Thompson, 750 So. 2d 643 (Fla. 1999) (holding that a law addressing career criminals and domestic violence was constitutionally invalid because those were separate subjects, though both dealt with crime). Here, not only did the Legislature not provide any reasonable indicators of an omnibus effort, but the Legislature affirmatively and expressly declared that its intent was to address sentencing for violent felons and repeat offenders, a far more narrow scope than "crime."

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